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This matter came on f o r hearing before the New 

Mexico O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n , DAVID R. CATANACH, 

Hearing Examiner, on Thursday, February 3rd, 2000, a t the 

New Mexico Energy, Minerals and Natural Resources 

Department, Porter H a l l , 2040 South Pacheco, Santa Fe, New 

Mexico, Steven T. Brenner, C e r t i f i e d Court Reporter No. 7 

f o r the State of New Mexico. 
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WHEREUPON, the f o l l o w i n g proceedings were had a t 

9:55 a.m.: 

EXAMINER CATANACH: We'll c a l l the hearing back 

t o order, and a t t h i s time w e ' l l c a l l Case 12,319. 

MS. HEBERT: A p p l i c a t i o n of Nearburg E x p l o r a t i o n 

Company, L.L.C., f o r compulsory p o o l i n g , Eddy County, New 

Mexico. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: C a l l f o r appearances i n t h i s 

case. 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner, my name i s 

W i l l i a m F. Carr w i t h the Santa Fe law f i r m Campbell, Carr, 

Berge and Sheridan. We represent Nearburg E x p l o r a t i o n i n 

t h i s matter, and I have two witnesses. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: C a l l f o r a d d i t i o n a l 

appearances? 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, Jim Bruce of Santa Fe, 

rep r e s e n t i n g Devon Energy Corporation, Nevada. I have two 

witnesses t o be sworn. 

Also a t t h i s time, Devon has f i l e d a counter-

a p p l i c a t i o n , which i s a c t u a l l y set f o r the next hearing, 

and we would ask t h a t we be allowed t o present testimony 

regarding t h a t a p p l i c a t i o n a t t h i s hearing, t o prevent 

f u r t h e r delay i n t h i s matter. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Do you a n t i c i p a t e having t o 

come back a t the next hearing, Mr. Bruce? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 
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MR. BRUCE: NO. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Okay, can I get the witnesses 

t o stand and be sworn in? 

(Thereupon, the witnesses were sworn.) 

C. MARK WHEELER, 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Would you s t a t e your name f o r the record, please? 

A. C. Mark Wheeler. 

Q. Mr. Wheeler, where do you reside? 

A. Midland, Texas. 

Q. By whom are you employed? 

A. Nearburg E x p l o r a t i o n . 

Q. And what i s your p o s i t i o n w i t h Nearburg 

Exploration? 

A. Senior landman. 

Q. Mr. Wheeler, have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before 

t h i s D i v i s i o n ? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. At the time of t h a t testimony, were your 

c r e d e n t i a l s as an expert i n petroleum land matters accepted 

and made a matter of record? 

A. Yes, they were. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

7 

Q. Are you familiar with the Application in this 

case f i l e d on behalf of Nearburg Exploration? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the s t a t u s of the lands 

i n the subject area? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

MR. CARR: We tender Mr. Wheeler as an expert 

witness i n petroleum land matters. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Any objection? 

MR. BRUCE: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Mr. Wheeler i s so q u a l i f i e d . 

Q. (By Mr. Carr) Would you b r i e f l y s t a t e what i t i s 

t h a t Nearburg seeks w i t h t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n ? 

A. Nearburg seeks an order p o o l i n g a l l mineral 

i n t e r e s t s from the surface t o the base of the Morrow 

formation i n the n o r t h h a l f of Section 30, i n Township 17 

South, Range 27 East, Eddy County, i n the f o l l o w i n g manner: 

the n o r t h h a l f f o r a l l formations or pools developed on a 

320-acre spacing, i n c l u d i n g the Logan Draw-Morrow Gas Pool; 

the northeast quarter f o r a l l formations or pools developed 

on 160-acre spacing; the south h a l f , northeast q u a r t e r , f o r 

a l l formations or pools developed on an 80-acre spacing; 

and the southeast, northeast quarter f o r a l l formations or 

pools developed on 40-acre spacing. 

Q. And t o what w e l l do you propose t o dedicate these 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 
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spacing or proration units? 

A. We w i l l dedicate t h i s t o Nearburg's Logan Draw 

Federal "30" Com Number 1 w e l l , t o be d r i l l e d a t a standard 

l o c a t i o n i n the southeast quarter, northeast q u a r t e r of 

Section 30. 

Q. Mr. Wheeler, l e t ' s go t o what has been marked f o r 

i d e n t i f i c a t i o n as Nearburg E x h i b i t Number 1. Would you 

i d e n t i f y t h i s e x h i b i t and review the i n f o r m a t i o n thereon 

f o r Mr. Catanach? 

A. This i s a land l o c a t o r e x h i b i t showing the 

s l i g h t l y i r r e g u l a r n o r t h h a l f of Section 30. This i s up 

against the west side of the township, and so there's a 

s l i g h t i r r e g u l a r i t y i n the shape of the s e c t i o n . I t ' s 

s l i g h t l y under 320 acres. I t shows the proposed w e l l 

l o c a t i o n of Nearburg's proposed Logan Draw "30" Fed Com 

Number 1 and shows the ownership i n the area. 

Q. What i s the status of the acreage i n the n o r t h 

h a l f of Section 30? 

A. The northwest quarter i s fee, and the northeast 

q u a r t e r i s f e d e r a l . 

Q. And what i s the primary o b j e c t i v e i n t h i s 

proposed well? 

A. The Morrow formation and the Logan Draw-Morrow 

Gas Pool. 

Q. Let's go t o E x h i b i t Number 2, and I would ask you 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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t o r e f e r t o the e x h i b i t and review the ownership and the 

spacing u n i t f o r Mr. Catanach. 

A. This i s an ownership e x h i b i t of the n o r t h h a l f of 

Section 30. I t shows Nearburg w i t h approximately 4 9.93 

percent and Devon w i t h approximately 50.07 percent. We own 

the northwest quarter of the s e c t i o n , Devon owns the 

northeast quarter. And because of the s l i g h t survey 

variance, instead of i t being 50-50 i t ' s s l i g h t l y 

d i f f e r e n t . 

Q. I s the south h a l f of Section 3 0 c u r r e n t l y 

dedicated t o a well? 

A. Yes, s i r , i t ' s dedicated t o the Yates Petroleum 

Dos Equis Federal w e l l . 

Q. What percentage of the working i n t e r e s t i s 

v o l u n t a r i l y committed t o the w e l l you are proposing? 

A. Approximately 49.93 percent. 

Q. So the Nearburg i n t e r e s t i s committed, the Devon 

i s n ' t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And Devon i s the i n t e r e s t owner, the only 

i n t e r e s t owner, subject t o p o o l i n g i n t h i s matter? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. I ' d ask you t o r e f e r t o what i s marked as 

Nearburg E x h i b i t Number 3, and i t i s the l a r g e e x h i b i t w i t h 

the c l i p on i t i n the back of the e x h i b i t package. And I 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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would ask you to, by referring to this exhibit, summarize 

the e f f o r t s t h a t have been made by Nearburg t o put t h i s 

acreage together and o b t a i n the v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r of Devon 

i n the proposed spacing u n i t . 

A. Yes, s i r , t h i s e x h i b i t c h r o n i c l e s a l l the 

correspondence between Nearburg and Devon. I t also 

includes some phone logs of some conversations t h a t have 

taken place since I began working a t Nearburg i n December. 

I t s t a r t s i n September of 1998 when Nearburg requested the 

term assignment from Devon. 

Devon responded s h o r t l y t h e r e a f t e r , i t was not 

i n t e r e s t e d i n g r a n t i n g a term assignment and asked t h a t 

Nearburg forward an AFE. 

On January 22nd of 1999, Nearburg forwarded an 

AFE a t a l o c a t i o n 1980 f e e t from the n o r t h l i n e and 1650 

f e e t from the east l i n e . We o f f e r e d t o send an op e r a t i n g 

agreement i f Devon wanted t o p a r t i c i p a t e or t o take a 

mutually acceptable farmout i f they d i d not. 

We received no r e p l y from Devon f o r approximately 

two months, and we again, Nearburg again, contacted Devon 

i n w r i t i n g and proposed a c q u i r i n g a farmout on the 

northeast quarter of Section 30, o f f e r i n g a 75-percent net 

revenue i n t e r e s t d e l i v e r e d , and a p r o p o r t i o n a t e t h i r d back-

i n a f t e r payout. 

Nearburg sent a new AFE i n A p r i l of 1999. I t was 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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amended because we had changed the production casing 

s t r i n g , made the w e l l s l i g h t l y more expensive. We also 

sent a n o r t h - h a l f - o f - t h e - s e c t i o n j o i n t o p e r a t i n g agreement 

f o r Devon's review a t t h a t time. 

On May 13th of 1999, Devon executed Nearburg's 

AFE, the o r i g i n a l one, not the new one, but executed the 

o r i g i n a l one t h a t was sent i n January. They d i d not 

execute an operating agreement a t t h a t time, but they made 

no c o n d i t i o n s on t h e i r p a r t i c i p a t i o n except a compliance 

w i t h t h e i r w e l l requirements, geologic w e l l requirements. 

During the summer of 1999, we were made aware 

t h a t Murchison was about t o d r i l l a w e l l o f f s e t t i n g Section 

3 0 i n the northwest quarter of Section 29. 

On September 14th of 1999, Nearburg withdrew i t s 

AFE, and we were w a i t i n g on geologic review a f t e r the 

Murchison w e l l was d r i l l e d , and we had a small working 

i n t e r e s t i n the Murchison w e l l . So we withdrew the AFE and 

we s t a t e d t h a t i f , a f t e r t h a t w e l l was d r i l l e d , a w e l l i n 

the n o r t h h a l f of 30 was s t i l l warranted, we would f u r n i s h 

a new AFE t o Devon. 

While we waited on the i n f o r m a t i o n from t h a t 

w e l l , we received the in f o r m a t i o n from a formation micro 

l o g t h a t we — FMI t o o l t h a t we paid f o r . We received t h a t 

i n f o r m a t i o n on November the 10th and s t a r t e d the review of 

the i n f o r m a t i o n from t h a t w e l l , the Murchison w e l l . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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On November the 11th Devon faxed and mailed an 

AFE t o Nearburg f o r a Morrow w e l l a t the same o r i g i n a l 

l o c a t i o n we had proposed. 

We q u i c k l y completed our review of the FMI and 

faxed and mailed back an a l t e r n a t e AFE a t our l o c a t i o n t h a t 

we're requesting now, which i s 1650 f e e t from the n o r t h 

l i n e and 660 f e e t from the east l i n e . 

A few days l a t e r we forwarded a new op e r a t i n g 

agreement. B a s i c a l l y , i t was the same as the one t h a t was 

p r e v i o u s l y sent, same overhead r a t e s and e v e r y t h i n g . 

And then since t h a t time we have had numerous 

conversations about t r y i n g t o get t h i s matter s e t t l e d . 

Devon asked us t o go along w i t h t h e i r gas-balancing 

agreements, which we agreed t o . They've asked us on 

several occasions t o change our overhead r a t e s t o a lower 

r a t e , they've t o l d us on the phone t h a t they've had no 

problem w i t h us operating or w i t h our l o c a t i o n , but we have 

been unable t o reach agreement w i t h them a t t h i s time. 

Q. And a t t h i s time, i s i t your understanding t h a t 

the two basic issues are who w i l l operate and the l o c a t i o n 

of the well? 

A. As of a conversation j u s t about a week ago, I was 

made aware t h a t the issues r e l a t e d now are who w i l l operate 

and where the w e l l w i l l be d r i l l e d . 

Q. I n your opinion, has Nearburg made a g o o d - f a i t h 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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effort to put this acreage together and obtain the 

v o l u n t a r y p a r t i c i p a t i o n of Devon i n the proposed w e l l ? 

A. Yes, s i r , we have. 

Q. Could you r e f e r t o what has been marked as 

Nearburg E x h i b i t Number 4? 

A. That's our AFE f o r the w e l l , 1650 from the n o r t h 

and 660 from the east. 

Q. What are the t o t a l s set f o r t h on the e x h i b i t ? 

A. Dry hole $417,508, completed w e l l , $721,310. 

Q. O r i g i n a l l y there was another AFE submitted on the 

w e l l , c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, yes. 

Q. That was the AFE t h a t Devon executed; i s t h a t 

r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, i t was, i n May of 1999. 

Q. Are the costs as set f o r t h on the AFE which i s 

marked as E x h i b i t Number 4 i n l i n e w i t h what's been charged 

or what i s charged f o r s i m i l a r w e l l s i n t h i s area? 

A. Yes, s i r , they are. 

Q. Have you made an estimate of the overhead and 

a d m i n i s t r a t i v e costs t o be i n c u r r e d w h i l e d r i l l i n g the w e l l 

and also w h i l e producing i t , i f i t i s successful? 

A. Yes, s i r , we have reviewed the Ernst and Young 

1999 w e l l standard r a t e s and have come up w i t h a r a t e of 

$4168 d u r i n g the d r i l l i n g and $424 per month d u r i n g the 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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producing. 

Q. I s a p o r t i o n of the 1999 Ernst and Young survey 

— i s t h a t has been marked Nearburg E x h i b i t 5? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And these r a t e s are shown on the bottom of t h a t 

e x h i b i t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , they are. 

Q. For a w e l l a t a depth of 5000 t o 10,000 fee t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And approximately how deep w i l l the w e l l be? 

A. 9400 f e e t . 

Q. So you're a t the deep end of t h i s range? 

A. Yes, we are. 

Q. You've recommended these f i g u r e s be incorpo r a t e d 

i n t o the order t h a t r e s u l t s from t h i s hearing? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Does Nearburg also request t h a t the overhead 

f i g u r e s approved by the D i v i s i o n be subject t o and be 

increased i n accordance w i t h COPAS g u i d e l i n e s a p p l i c a b l e t o 

a w e l l of t h i s nature? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Would you i d e n t i f y what has been marked as our 

E x h i b i t Number 6? 

A. This i s the a f f i d a v i t t h a t was f i l e d by your f i r m 

on behalf of Nearburg f o r t h i s hearing. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Q. And this confirms that Devon has been notified of 

the A p p l i c a t i o n i n the hearing? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Does Nearburg Producing Company, L.L.C., seek t o 

be designated operator of the proposed well? 

A. Yes, we do. 

Q. Does Nearburg have a gas c o n t r a c t a v a i l a b l e t h a t 

would cover the production from the well? 

A. Yes, s i r , we have other w e l l s i n the area, we 

have an immediate connection and a good gas c o n t r a c t . 

Q. Does Nearburg have a r i g a v a i l a b l e t o d r i l l the 

well? 

A. Yes, s i r , we c u r r e n t l y have a r i g under c o n t r a c t 

from Peterson D r i l l i n g Company t h a t we b e l i e v e w i l l be 

a v a i l a b l e f o r t h i s w e l l around A p r i l 1st. 

Q. How soon does Nearburg plan t o d r i l l the well? 

A p r i l the 1st? 

A. We'd l i k e t o d r i l l i t as soon as p o s s i b l e i f t h a t 

r i g becomes a v a i l a b l e p r i o r t o then and we've got t h i s 

matter s e t t l e d , we would l i k e t o d r i l l i t as soon as 

po s s i b l e , but c e r t a i n l y no l a t e r than A p r i l 1st. 

Q. I s Nearburg f a c i n g a lease e x p i r a t i o n i n the 

area? 

A. Yes, s i r , we have a s l i g h t i n t e r e s t t h a t ' s 

e x p i r i n g i n mid-May i n the northwest qua r t e r . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Q. And f o r t h i s reason, are you proposing an 

expedited order? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. I f you get an expedited order, w i l l t h a t enable 

you t o l e t the time frames t h a t are r e q u i r e d i n a 

compulsory p o o l i n g order run p r i o r t o spudding the well? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Were E x h i b i t s 1 through 6 e i t h e r prepared by you 

or compiled under your d i r e c t i o n and supervision? 

A. Yes, s i r , they were. 

MR. CARR: At t h i s time, Mr. Catanach, we move 

the admission i n t o evidence of Nearburg E x h i b i t s 1 through 

6. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: E x h i b i t s 1 through 6 w i l l be 

admitted as evidence. 

Mr. Bruce? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Just a couple of questions. Welcome back, Mr. 

Wheeler. 

A. Thank you. 

Q. Does Nearburg have an approved APD f o r i t s 

l o c a t i o n ? 

A. No, s i r , we do not. We have f i l e d f o r t h a t , but 

we have not received an approved permit. 
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Q. One other thing I'm a l i t t l e confused about. You 

say you're p o o l i n g 160-acre and 80-acre and 40-acre zones, 

but doesn't Devon own 100 percent of those? 

A. Devon owns 100 percent of the northeast q u a r t e r , 

yes, s i r . 

Q. So they would own anything 100 percent based on 

those spacing u n i t s , would they not? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

MR. BRUCE: That's a l l I have, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER CATANACH: 

Q. So the pooling of the 160, 80 and 40 i s 

unnecessary, i n f a c t ? 

A. We have an i n t e r e s t i n the northwest, obviously, 

and would want t o pool anything on 3 2 0s. 

On the shallower I suppose t h a t t h a t would be 

unnecessary, yes, s i r , although the w e l l w i l l be d r i l l e d t o 

the Morrow. 

Q. Right, f o r the 320 the p o o l i n g i s necessary — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — but f o r the 160, 80 and 40 i t ' s not necessary? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Okay. I don't have any 

questions f o r t h i s witness. 

MR. CARR: At t h i s time we c a l l J e r r y Elger. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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JERRY B. ELGER, 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Would you s t a t e your name f o r the record, please? 

A. J e r r y Elger. 

Q. Where do you reside? 

A. I n Midland, Texas. 

Q. By whom are you employed? 

A. By Nearburg Producing Company. 

Q. And what i s your p o s i t i o n w i t h Nearburg Producing 

Company? 

A. E x p l o r a t i o n g e o l o g i s t . 

Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before t h i s 

D i v i s i o n ? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. At the time of t h a t testimony, were your 

c r e d e n t i a l s as an expert i n petroleum geology accepted and 

made a matter of record? 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the A p p l i c a t i o n f i l e d i n 

t h i s case? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. Have you made a g e o l o g i c a l study of the area 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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which i s involved i n t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n ? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And are you prepared t o share the r e s u l t s of t h a t 

work w i t h Mr. Catanach? 

A. Yes. 

MR. CARR: We tender Mr. Elger as an expert 

witness i n petroleum geology. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Any objection? 

MR. BRUCE: No, s i r . 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Mr. Elger i s considered 

q u a l i f i e d . 

Q. (By Mr. Carr) Mr. Elger, have you prepared 

e x h i b i t s f o r p r e s e n t a t i o n here today? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Let's go t o what has been marked f o r 

i d e n t i f i c a t i o n as Nearburg E x h i b i t Number 7. They're 

marked i n the upper l e f t - h a n d corner. And I would ask you 

f i r s t t o i d e n t i f y the e x h i b i t and review the i n f o r m a t i o n on 

the e x h i b i t f o r the Examiner. 

A. E x h i b i t Number 7 i s a production map i n a p o r t i o n 

of Township 17 South, Range 27 East. I t i d e n t i f i e s the 

proposed l o c a t i o n i n the n o r t h h a l f of Section 3 0 and the 

320-acre spacing u n i t . 

The production i s i n d i c a t e d by c o l o r coding. 

Morrow producers have been i n d i c a t e d i n red on t h i s 
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d i s p l a y , Cisco producers i n green, and there's one Atoka 

producer i n d i c a t e d i n orange. 

T o t a l performance of each w e l l i s i n d i c a t e d by 

how much gas they've made, and each w e l l has been i n d i c a t e d 

whether they're e i t h e r on a c t i v e s t a t u s or i n a c t i v e s t a t u s . 

Q. Mr. Elger, i f I look a t t h i s e x h i b i t , can you 

i d e n t i f y w e l l s operated by Nearburg on t h i s p l a t ? 

A. Yes. There are three w e l l s — a c t u a l l y f o u r 

w e l l s t h a t Nearburg operates. Three are Morrow gas 

producers. The T r i g g 29 w e l l i s located i n the southeast 

qu a r t e r of Section 29, the Chevron 3 2 i s located i n the 

northeast quarter of Section 32, and immediately t o the 

east of t h a t i s the Exxon 3 3 w e l l , which i s the 1.05-BCF 

w e l l . 

We also operate the San Andres w e l l i n the 

southeast quarter of Section 32, which was d r i l l e d as a 

Morrow t e s t and plugged back t o the San Andres. 

Q. And i t i s the gas co n t r a c t by which you s e l l 

p r o d u c t i o n from these w e l l s t h a t can be extended t o add 

a d d i t i o n a l gas from the w e l l you are proposing? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Nearburg also owns an i n t e r e s t i n the new w e l l as 

i t ' s i n d i c a t e d , immediately o f f s e t t i n g the proposed 

l o c a t i o n t o the east; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 
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Q. That's the Murchison w e l l t h a t we were — t h a t 

Mr. Wheeler — 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. — was t a l k i n g about? 

Do you own an i n t e r e s t i n the w e l l due south, i n 

the south h a l f of Section 3 0? 

A. Yes, we do. We own approximately a 50-percent 

i n t e r e s t i n the Yates Dos Equis w e l l , which was d r i l l e d i n 

the southeast southeast of Section 30. 

Q. And i s i t the in f o r m a t i o n t h a t you have obtained 

by paying your share of these w e l l s t h a t you have u t i l i z e d 

t o develop the prospect i n the no r t h h a l f of Section 3 0? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Let's go t o E x h i b i t Number 8. Would you i d e n t i f y 

and review t h a t , please? 

A. E x h i b i t Number 8 i s a net sand isopach map of the 

upper "C", the "C" zone being the lower Morrow, and the 

upper sand developed i n the lower Morrow i s the main t a r g e t 

f o r w e l l s i n t h i s p a r t i c u l a r area. 

Wells t h a t are productive from the upper "C" pay 

have been i d e n t i f i e d on t h i s e x h i b i t as red, w i t h the net 

f e e t of pay and the gross f e e t of t o t a l sand thickness 

i d e n t i f i e d also by each w e l l , the net p o r o s i t y c u t o f f being 

a t 8 percent, based on the formation d e n s i t y c u t o f f 

p o r o s i t y . 
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Q. I f we look at this exhibit, the location being 

proposed by Devon i s f a r t h e r t o the west, i s i t not? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. I f I look a t the l o c a t i o n t h a t i s being proposed 

by Nearburg, the e x h i b i t i n d i c a t e s "FMI i n t e r p r e t a t i o n : 

Upper 'C sand t h i c k e n i n g d i r e c t i o n . " I s t h a t what the red 

— b a s i c a l l y , the red arrows indicate? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Could you exp l a i n what i s an FMI i n t e r p r e t a t i o n ? 

A. An FMI t o o l i s the t o o l t h a t i s run by 

Schlumberger, and i t ' s a very h i g h - r e s o l u t i o n r e s i s t i v i t y 

t o o l capable of i d e n t i f y i n g very s u b t l e sedimentary 

s t r u c t u r e s , i n t e r n a l s t r u c t u r e s w i t h i n sandbodies. I t can 

be used f o r t h a t purpose. And those, i n t u r n , can be used 

t o i d e n t i f y or i n t e r p r e t e d as t o where you are w i t h i n a 

p a r t i c u l a r sandbody, whether you're — c u r r e n t d i r e c t i o n — 

i t uses c u r r e n t d i r e c t i o n i n d i c a t o r s , t h i c k e n i n g d i r e c t i o n 

i n d i c a t o r s from the h i g h - r e s o l u t i o n data t h a t ' s obtained. 

Q. Was i t the in f o r m a t i o n you obtained from t h i s FMI 

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n , was i t t h a t data t h a t caused you t o move t o 

the new w e l l l o c a t i o n ? 

A. Yes, s i r , t h a t i n combination w i t h the r e s u l t s of 

the Murchison Potte r Number 2 w e l l . 

Q. And you own an i n t e r e s t i n t h a t w ell? 

A. Yes, we do. 
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Q. And did anyone else share in the costs of 

a c q u i r i n g t h i s FMI i n t e r p r e t a t i o n ? 

A. No, they d i d not. 

Q. Let's go t o E x h i b i t Number 9. W i l l you i d e n t i f y 

and review t h a t f o r Mr. Catanach? 

A. E x h i b i t Number 9 i s a s t r a t i g r a p h i c c r o s s - s e c t i o n 

of the Morrow i n t e r v a l i n the surrounding w e l l s t o the 

proposed spacing u n i t . 

On the f a r l e f t side of the cr o s s - s e c t i o n i s the 

w e l l t h a t Nearburg p a r t i c i p a t e d i n w i t h Yates i n the 

southeast southeast of Section 30, the Dos Equis w e l l . 

Q. And there's map i n the lower p o r t i o n of the 

e x h i b i t , c o r r e c t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. That w e l l i s productive from t h i s pay sand, the 

upper "C" zone. 

The Murchison Potter Number 2 w e l l , which i s the 

immediate o f f s e t , east o f f s e t t o the proposed w e l l , i s the 

next l o g , and a remnant of the upper "C" channel i s 

i d e n t i f i e d on there w i t h the yellow shading. There's 

approximately ten f e e t of sand w i t h four f e e t of p o r o s i t y 

t h a t meets the c u t o f f s p e c i f i c a t i o n s . That sand was d r i l l -

stem t e s t e d and had a s l i g h t show of gas. I t was 

subsequently p e r f o r a t e d and pro d u c t i o n - t e s t e d , which 
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indicated it to be noncommercial quantities of gas, and the 

w e l l was plugged back f o r a completion attempt i n the 

Cisco. 

The next two w e l l s , t o the r i g h t side of the 

cro s s - s e c t i o n , are w e l l s t h a t were d r i l l e d by Mesa 

Petroleum back i n the 197 0s. Both of those w e l l s were 

completed from sands i n the upper "C". The w e l l on the — 

The Yates Federal Com 1Y i s the southernmost of the two 

w e l l s . 

I f y o u ' l l n o t i c e t h a t the equi v a l e n t of the Dos 

Equis sand, the upper "C" sand t h a t was encountered i n the 

Po t t e r 2 and the Dos Equis w e l l , i s very p o o r l y developed, 

has very poor p o r o s i t y . I t was p e r f o r a t e d along w i t h the 

middle "C" sand and a "B" zone sand, a l l of which showed, 

i n d i c a t e d very poor performance. The cumulative production 

from t h a t p a r t i c u l a r w e l l since 1979 i s 180 m i l l i o n cubic 

f e e t of gas, which i s r e a l l y noncommercial. 

And the immediate n o r t h o f f s e t t o t h a t i s the 

w e l l l o g on the f a r r i g h t , the Mesa Peterson Fed Com Number 

1. That w e l l was completed from two "C" zone sands. Our 

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n i s t h a t the m a j o r i t y of the gas produc t i o n 

from t h a t w e l l came from the upper "C" i n t e r v a l . There's a 

tremendous d i f f e r e n c e i n the r e s i s t i v i t y p r o f i l e s of the 

two sands t h a t have been completed i n t h a t w e l l , w i t h a 

s i g n i f i c a n t invasion p r o f i l e i n d i c a t e d on the upper sand or 
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the upper "C" equivalent to what our target is. And 

t h e r e f o r e we've concluded t h a t the m a j o r i t y of the over 5 

BCF, 5.8 BCF t h a t ' s been produced from t h a t w e l l , has been 

from t h a t upper "C" i n t e r v a l . 

Those w e l l s were d r i l l e d i n f a i r l y close 

p r o x i m i t y t o each other, so you went from a scenario where 

you were — s i t u a t i o n where you had very poor — you had a 

remnant of the sand but f a i r l y poor r e s e r v o i r q u a l i t y t o a 

very good r e s e r v o i r s i t u a t i o n , i n the approximate distance 

t h a t we're proposing t o d r i l l west of the Murchison P o t t e r 

2 i n Section 29. 

Q. I n your opinion, does moving f a r t h e r than you're 

proposing, does t h a t increase the r i s k of i n t e r s e c t i n g the 

o f f s e t t i n g Morrow channel? 

A. Yes, i t does. 

Q. I s i t f a i r t o say t h a t the f a r t h e r from the 

P o t t e r w e l l you move, the more unpredictable t h i s e n t i r e 

r e s e r v o i r becomes? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . There's no w e l l c o n t r o l anywhere 

i n Section 19, there's no w e l l c o n t r o l other than the Dos 

Equis w e l l i n the f a r southeast corner of Section 30. 

Q. And your i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of the r e s e r v o i r i n t h i s 

area i s based on the w e l l c o n t r o l t h a t you've reviewed and 

the i n f o r m a t i o n from the FMI t o o l ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 
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Q. Are you prepared to make a recommendation to the 

Examiner concerning the r i s k penalty t h a t should be 

assessed against Devon i f they do not p a r t i c i p a t e i n the 

well? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And what i s that? 

A. That would be 200 percent. 

Q. I n your opinion, Mr. Elger, i s t h e r e a chance 

t h a t you could d r i l l a w e l l a t t h i s l o c a t i o n which would 

not be a commercial success? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Could you summarize f o r Mr. Catanach Nearburg's 

g e o l o g i c a l conclusions? 

A. Our conclusions are t h a t based on the thickness 

and near p r o x i m i t y t h a t our i n t e r p r e t a t i o n i s of the upper 

"C" sand and the Murchison Potter 2, we would opt t o stay 

f a i r l y close t o t h a t , because the FMI i n d i c a t o r i s 

i n d i c a t i n g a t h i c k e n i n g of t h a t p a r t i c u l a r sand t o the 

west, towards our d r i l l s i t e . 

And we would be h e s i t a n t t o d r i l l f a r t h e r t o the 

west than where our c u r r e n t — the proposed l o c a t i o n i s , 

f o r f e a r of moving onto the other side of the channel, 

b a s i c a l l y , and ending up w i t h another P o t t e r - l i k e 

r e s e r v o i r . 

Q. Nearburg has d r i l l e d numerous other deep w e l l s i n 
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southeastern New Mexico; is that not correct? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. I n f a c t , i n 1999 Nearburg may have been the 

company t h a t d r i l l e d more w e l l s t o approximately 10,000 

f e e t and beyond than any other operator; i s t h a t f a i r t o 

say? 

A. That's very f a i r t o say. 

Q. I n your opinion, w i l l approval of Nearburg's 

A p p l i c a t i o n and the d r i l l i n g of the w e l l a t Nearburg's 

proposed l o c a t i o n be i n the best i n t e r e s t of conservation, 

the prevention of waste and the p r o t e c t i o n of c o r r e l a t i v e 

r i g h t s ? 

A. Yes, i t w i l l . 

Q. I n your opinion, i f the Devon a p p l i c a t i o n i s 

granted and a w e l l d r i l l e d where they proposed, i s t h e r e a 

chance t h a t reserves, i n f a c t , w i l l be l e f t i n the ground? 

A. Yes, there i s . 

Q. How soon does Nearburg plan t o spud the well? 

A. We would l i k e t o d r i l l i t ASAP. 

Q. Were E x h i b i t s 7 through 9 prepared by you or 

compiled under your d i r e c t i o n ? 

A. Yes, they were. 

MR. CARR: At t h i s time, Mr. Catanach, we move 

the admission i n t o evidence of Nearburg E x h i b i t s 7 through 

9. 
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EXAMINER CATANACH: E x h i b i t s 7 through 9 w i l l be 

admitted as evidence. 

MR. CARR: That concludes my examination of Mr. 

Elger. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Mr. Bruce? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Mr. Elger, j u s t t o make sure, the w e l l i n Section 

29 — what i s i t , the Potter Number 2? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. That i s noncommercial i n the Morrow? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. What's the curr e n t s t a t u s of t h a t well? Do you 

know? 

A. Murchison was attempting t o complete the w e l l 

from the Canyon or the Cisco formation, the Logan Draw-

Cisco-Morrow Pool, or the Cisco Pool, and I don't b e l i e v e 

they were successful. 

So I believe the w e l l has not been plugged but i s 

c u r r e n t l y shut i n . 

Q. Nearburg was an i n t e r e s t owner i n t h a t well? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Was i t a consenting or nonconsenting p a r t y i n 

t h a t well? 

A. I n the — 
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Q. I n the Pott e r Number 2. 

A. I n the completion or the d r i l l i n g ? We 

p a r t i c i p a t e d i n the d r i l l i n g of the w e l l . 

Q. Okay. 

A. And we — 

Q. — nonconsented i n the completion? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Now, loo k i n g a t your E x h i b i t 8, you show what? 

About 25 f e e t a t your l o c a t i o n , 2 5 f e e t of net sand? 

A. The contour i n t e r v a l i s f i v e f e e t . We're 

showing — 

Q. Or maybe 30 f e e t , excuse me? 

A. Yes, s i r , 30 f e e t . 

Q. And based on t h i s map, wouldn't Devon's l o c a t i o n 

also have about 3 0 feet? 

A. No, I believe they'd be f a r t h e r t o the west than 

the 30-foot — the western edge, the boundary of the 30-

f o o t contour. I believe they'd be more i n the 15-to- — 

between 15 and 20 f o o t . 

Q. And again, the FMI you t a l k e d about — What i s 

t h a t s h o r t f o r , by the way? 

A. Formation micro-imaging t o o l . 

Q. Those r e s u l t s have not been shown t o Devon? 

A. No. 

MR. BRUCE: That's a l l I have, Mr. Examiner. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER CATANACH: 

Q. Mr. Elger, what was your o r i g i n a l l o c a t i o n ? 

A. The o r i g i n a l l o c a t i o n was 1980 from the n o r t h and 

1650 from the east l i n e . 

Q. So you had your o r i g i n a l l o c a t i o n f u r t h e r t o the 

west? 

A. About 1000 f e e t f a r t h e r west. 

Q. Okay. That FMI log was run i n the P o t t e r Number 

2 wel l ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And you had access t o t h a t , being an i n t e r e s t 

owner? 

A. A c t u a l l y , we paid f o r i t and ran i t . Based on 

the o p e r a t i n g agreement, we had the r i g h t t o run whatever 

surveys we thought would be necessary. Yates and Murchison 

were both involved i n t h a t w e l l , and n e i t h e r one wanted t o 

pay f o r t h e i r share. 

So a t Nearburg's sole expense, we ran t h a t 

p a r t i c u l a r too, even w i t h a very small working i n t e r e s t , 

j u s t t o have access t o the in f o r m a t i o n i n d i c a t i n g — g i v i n g 

us comfort f a c t o r t h a t the sand d i d , indeed, t h i c k e n t o the 

west r a t h e r than t o the east. 

You could have applied another i n t e r p r e t a t i o n t o 

t h i s and a c t u a l l y had the Potter w e l l on the western side 
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of the channel, so the channel could have run down the 

middle of Section 29. We wanted t o v e r i f y w i t h t h i s t o o l 

t h a t the Po t t e r w e l l was indeed s i t u a t e d on the eastern 

side of the channel and t h a t the sand appeared t o be 

t h i c k e n i n g t o the west, and t h a t ' s what the t o o l d i d t e l l 

us. 

Q. Okay, the t o o l t o l d you t h a t the sand thickened 

as you moved t o the west? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. I t doesn't t e l l you what r a t e the sand thickens? 

A. No. 

Q. So t e l l me why you chose the c u r r e n t l o c a t i o n . 

A. Again, I referenced the cross-section i n d i c a t i n g 

the two Mesa w e l l s and the f a c t t h a t the distance between 

those two w e l l s i s approximately 1000 f e e t , and you went 

from a s i t u a t i o n i n the Mesa Yates Fed Com Number 1Y, which 

has a remnant of the upper "C" sand very s i m i l a r t o what 

was encountered by Murchison i n the Po t t e r 2, t o a very 

p r o d u c t i v e , very p r o l i f i c sand w i t h t h i c k e r net p o r o s i t y i n 

the Mesa Peterson w e l l . 

Just using t h a t r e l a t i o n s h i p t h a t i s observed i n 

those w e l l s and applying i t t o where the channel i s , 

r e l a t i v e t o the Potter 2, we're moving about the same 

distance from the Potter t h a t the Peterson was from the 1Y. 

Q. The w e l l i n the southeast quarter of Section 30, 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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is that a commercial well? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you've shown t h a t t o have encountered 

somewhere between 15 and 2 0 f e e t of sand? 

A. 27 f e e t of gross sand, 15 f e e t of g r e a t e r than 8 

percent. 

Q. So i t ' s p o s s i b l e , i n your o p i n i o n t o d r i l l a 

commercial w e l l w i t h 15 f e e t of net sand? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s t r u e . But the maximum recovery i s 

going t o be, obviously, from the maximum thickness or 

r e s e r v o i r h e i g h t . Therefore we t h i n k we can — w i t h the 

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n we've applied here, encountering even a 

t h i c k e r than 15 f e e t of sand, we can recover g r e a t e r 

reserves. 

There are other — where the FMI i s used — OXY 

has used the FMI t o a f a i r l y high degree i n t h i s same 

township and has gone from s i t u a t i o n s s i m i l a r t o the P o t t e r 

Federal Number 2 where you encounter j u s t a remnant of a 

sand, and instead of d r i l l i n g a new w e l l 1000 f e e t away, 

they've a c t u a l l y sidetracked w e l l s 3 00 f e e t from where 

they're encountering remnants of sands and noncommercial 

types of r e s e r v o i r s , t o where they were encountering very 

commercial r e s e r v o i r s i n a distance of 3 00 f e e t . 

We're proposing a 1000-foot o f f s e t , and I t h i n k 

i f you look a t the Devon l o c a t i o n even f a r t h e r t o the west, 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

33 

I t h i n k there's a high p o s s i b i l i t y of moving out of the 

center of the channel and moving over t o the western side 

of the channel. These channels r e a l l y are not t h a t wide. 

Q. Mr. Elger, i n the process of your n e g o t i a t i o n s 

w i t h Devon, would i t not have been h e l p f u l t o share t h i s 

i n f o r m a t i o n w i t h them? 

A. They — I don't believe they ever asked f o r the 

in f o r m a t i o n . 

(Off the record) 

EXAMINER CATANACH: They did? 

MR. WHEELER: They d i d r e c e n t l y , yes, s i r . 

Q. (By Examiner Catanach) Are the r e any other 

besides the upper "C", are there any other p o t e n t i a l 

producing sands, i n your opinion, a t t h i s l o c a t i o n ? 

A. You can have a d d i t i o n a l sands develop. As you 

can see on the cross-section, i n the Mesa Peterson w e l l 

there's a k i n d of a middle "C" sand t h a t ' s developed. 

One of the reasons I concluded most of the gas, 

again, was from the upper sand, however, i n t h a t w e l l , was 

t h a t you have a sand t h a t almost looks i d e n t i c a l t o i t and 

t h a t was encountered i n the Yates Fed Com 1Y, and yet when 

i t was completed from t h a t sand, i t was noncommercial from 

a l l of the sands i n t h a t p a r t i c u l a r w e l l . 

The conclusion, again, p o i n t s very s t r o n g l y t h a t 

most of the gas i s out of the upper "C" sand i n t h a t w e l l . 
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111, 1 fl up tl fill ii| i fe 
isopach map, y o u ' l l see t h a t the m a j o r i t y of the w e l l s , 

p r o d u c t i v e w e l l s out here, are from the upper "C". The 

w e l l i n 32, the w e l l i n 33, our w e l l i n 29, t h e commercial 

w e l l i n the n o r t h h a l f of 20, there's a w e l l i n the 

southeast of 30 — They're a l l upper "C" completions. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: I have nothing f u r t h e r of 

t h i s witness. 

Any other questions? 

MR. CARR: That concludes my examination of Mr. 

Elger, and t h a t concludes our p r e s e n t a t i o n . 

CARLA WOOD. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d uly sworn upon 

her oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Would you please s t a t e your name f o r the record? 

A. Carla Wood. 

Q. And where do you reside? 

A. Oklahoma C i t y . 

Q. Who do you work f o r and i n what capacity? 

A. I'm a landman a t Devon Energy Corporation. 

Q. Have you pr e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the D i v i s i o n 

as a petroleum landman? 

A. Not before t h i s D i v i s i o n . 
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Q. Would you summarize your educational and 

employment background f o r the Examiner? 

A. Yes, I graduated from OU i n petroleum land 

management program i n 1988. P r i o r t o t h a t I d i d f i e l d 

landwork, i n 1981, from 1981 t o about 1988. I went t o work 

w i t h Conoco f o r s i x years from 1988 t o 1994. I worked the 

San Juan Basin w i t h Conoco i n Michigan and various other 

areas. And from 1994 t o 1997 I worked w i t h Enron O i l and 

Gas, and I s t a r t e d work at Devon i n 1997. 

Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the land matters i n v o l v e d 

i n t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And does your area of r e s p o n s i b i l i t y i n c l u d e 

southeast New Mexico? 

A. Yes. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d tender Ms. Wood as 

an expert petroleum landman. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Any objection? 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Ms. Wood i s considered 

q u a l i f i e d . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) B r i e f l y , what does Devon Energy 

seek i n i t s case? 

A. We seek an order p o o l i n g the n o r t h h a l f of 

Section 30, 17 South, 27 East, t o the base of the Morrow 
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formation for a l l pools or formations spaced on 32 0 acres. 

Q. Would you r e f e r t o your f i r s t e x h i b i t and b r i e f l y 

i d e n t i f y t h a t f o r the Examiner? 

A. E x h i b i t 1 i s a land p l a t showing the — The red 

o u t l i n e i s the u n i t o u t l i n e f o r the spacing u n i t of the 

Logan Draw 30 Fed Com Number 1 w e l l . The acreage shaded i n 

ye l l o w i s Devon's i n t e r e s t . I t also shows the o r i g i n a l 

l o c a t i o n proposed a t 1980 f e e t from the n o r t h l i n e and 650 

f e e t from the east l i n e . 

Q. And t h a t ' s Devon's l o c a t i o n i n t h i s area? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And i t also has Nearburg's proposed l o c a t i o n on 

here? 

A. Yes, i t does. 

Q. Okay. And again, j u s t b r i e f l y , what i s the 

leasehold ownership i n the w e l l u n i t ? 

A. The northeast quarter i s a f e d e r a l lease, and 

Devon owns t h a t , a l l r i g h t s i n t h a t lease, 100 percent. 

The northwest quarter i s owned by Nearburg and Yates, and 

I've been t o l d t h a t Nearburg has a farmout from Yates. I 

haven't seen i t , but I believe t h a t t o be the case. 

Q. And again as t o the p o o l i n g , the only r i g h t s 

you're seeking t o pool are the deep gas zones spaced on 320 

acres 

Yes, 
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Q. Now, let's go down the chronology of events on 

t h i s matter. F i r s t of a l l , i f you can i d e n t i f y what 

E x h i b i t 2 i s f o r the Examiner? 

A. E x h i b i t 2 i s a chronology t h a t I s t a r t e d keeping. 

I s t a r t e d working t h i s area i n e a r l y March, and the f i r s t 

request t h a t I had seen i n t h i s area was a farmout request 

from Nearburg. 

Q. Okay. So on Nearburg's chronology t h e r e were 

some dates p r i o r t o March, 1999, but t h a t was before you 

s t a r t e d working the area? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And you weren't f a m i l i a r w i t h those? 

A. Right. 

Q. Okay. So l e t ' s — F i r s t of a l l j u s t b r i e f l y , you 

received the farmout from Nearburg i n March, and what 

happened over the next couple of months? 

A. Well, Nearburg proposed the w e l l . We had had 

conversations about operatorship, and a t the time we 

thought they may have had 50-percent i n t e r e s t . We got the 

AFE and the j o i n t operating agreement, and they had 7-

percent working i n t e r e s t . 

I advised them i n May t h a t Devon would want t o 

operate t h i s w e l l , since they only had 7-percent working 

i n t e r e s t , and a t the time I was advised t h a t they were 

t r y i n g t o t i e up the remaining i n t e r e s t i n the northwest 
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q u a r t e r . 

Q. Okay. So then i n June and duri n g the summer, 

what happened? 

A. I n June I ordered a t i t l e o p i n i o n , and Devon 

f i l e d an APD and staked a l o c a t i o n . 

I n August I received the t i t l e o p i n i o n , and th e r e 

was a t i t l e requirement t h a t r e q u i r e d a survey t o be taken 

i n t o account. And so we had a survey done i n August. 

Q. So t h a t ' s been s a t i s f i e d now? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s been s a t i s f i e d . 

Q. Okay. Now, you f i l e d the APD. Does Devon have 

an approved APD from the Bureau of Land Management? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. So r i g h t around t h a t time you were ready 

t o propose the w e l l , I presume? 

A. Yes, I t a l k e d w i t h Nearburg and advised them t h a t 

we were ready t o propose the w e l l , and a t t h a t p o i n t they 

advised t h a t they were i n the middle of n e g o t i a t i o n s w i t h 

Yates. And we discussed i t , and I — so t h a t I ' d w a i t a 

couple of weeks before I proposed the w e l l , so they could 

t i e up t h e i r n e g o t i a t i o n s . 

Q. Okay, so as not t o cause any problems f o r 

Nearburg? 

A. Right. 

Q. Okay. So you waited a couple of weeks, and now 
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we're i n September. What occurred next? 

A. At t h a t p o i n t Bob Shelton c a l l e d , and he was 

c a l l i n g t o i n q u i r e the st a t u s of the w e l l . And he advised 

t h a t they were — I t o l d him t h a t we were ready t o propose 

a w e l l , and then he t o l d me about the P o t t e r Federal w e l l , 

and they would l i k e t o see t h a t w e l l go down, because i t 

could change the l o c a t i o n on the Logan Draw. So we agreed 

t o w a i t . 

Q. Okay, so f o r the second time you he l d o f f f o r a 

w h i l e i n proposing a w e l l , a t Nearburg's request? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. The w e l l was d r i l l e d , as Mr. Wheeler 

t a l k e d about and — what? I n November a f t e r t h a t w e l l was 

down, counterproposals were made? 

A. Well, i n November the f i e l d had r e p o r t e d t h a t the 

w e l l had TD'd, and I contacted Bob Shelton and i n q u i r e d 

about the r e s u l t s of the o f f s e t . He advised t h a t they had 

el e c t e d t o nonconsent, because i t was v i r t u a l l y a dry hole, 

but some p a r t i e s were going t o run pipe because th e r e was 

small pay i n the Cisco/Canyon, and he said t h a t they were 

r e - e v a l u a t i n g Section 30 because they wanted t o inc o r p o r a t e 

the FMI i n t o t h e i r mapping. 

And I t o l d him we were ready t o propose the w e l l 

and needed t o make a decis i o n on the l o c a t i o n , because we 

already had an approved APD. And we had t h i s w e l l budgeted 
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f o r the f o u r t h quarter, and we r e a l l y wanted t o get i t 

d r i l l e d by then, and i f we were going t o have t o f i l e f o r a 

new l o c a t i o n , t h a t — 

Q. That could slow i t down? 

A. That could slow i t down. And he advised me a t 

t h a t p o i n t t h a t they would want t o operate the w e l l . 

Q. Okay. Now, you had the w e l l budgeted f o r the 

f o u r t h q u a r t e r . There was also another f a c t o r , wasn't 

there? The w e l l i n the southeast quarter had been d r i l l e d ? 

A. Yeah, and there was a drainage concern t h e r e . 

Q. Okay. So t h a t w e l l was d r i l l e d a t some p o i n t i n 

— I don't know when, i n 1999? 

A. I don't r e c a l l when i t was — I know t h e r e was a 

drainage concern w i t h t h a t w e l l . 

Q. Okay. Now, during November-December, were there 

discussions between you and Nearburg representatives? 

A. Yes, there were various discussions r e g a r d i n g the 

l o c a t i o n and operatorship, and — We work i n teams a t 

Devon, and the team had decided i f — We d i d not want t o 

get i n t o a f i g h t over operatorship, and i f i t can get the 

w e l l d r i l l e d before the end of the year, t h a t we would 

concede operations under c e r t a i n terms and c o n d i t i o n s i n 

the agreement. 

Q. Okay. So regarding the p r i o r testimony about 

Devon agreeing Nearburg could d r i l l , t h a t was p a r t and 
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p a r c e l of an agreement t o get the w e l l d r i l l e d — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — before the end of the year? 

A. (Nods) 

Q. Okay. And you were s t i l l i n n e g o t i a t i o n s , and 

then what happened? 

A. We were h i t w i t h the p o o l i n g A p p l i c a t i o n . 

Q. So you received the poo l i n g A p p l i c a t i o n , and here 

we are today? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What i s contained i n E x h i b i t 3? 

A. E x h i b i t 3 contains copies of l e t t e r s sent by 

Devon t o Nearburg where we proposed the w e l l . 

Q. And any other correspondence on t h i s matter would 

probably be contained i n Nearburg's packet of documents? 

A. Right. 

Q. Now, there's a couple of t h i n g s . On the 

chronology submitted by Nearburg i t sa i d t h a t a t some p o i n t 

i n January you c a l l e d about a — and wanted a $3 000-per-

month d r i l l i n g r a t e . I s t h a t what you were t a l k i n g about 

a t t h i s p o int? 

A. No, we — Just the producing r a t e . 

Q. Just the producing r a t e . 

A. Right. 

Q. And what were you proposing a t t h a t p o i n t ? 
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A. Three hundred dollars. 

Q. Okay, w e ' l l get i n t o t h a t i n a minute. I n your 

o p i n i o n , has Devon Energy made a g o o d - f a i t h e f f o r t t o 

o b t a i n the v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r of Nearburg i n t h i s w e l l ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Would you i d e n t i f y E x h i b i t 4 f o r the Examiner and 

discuss i t s contents? 

A. E x h i b i t 4 i s a copy of Devon's AFE and i t s 

proposed a 94 00-foot Morrow t e s t w i t h estimated dryhole 

costs of $421,000 and completion cost of $397,000. 

Q. Okay. Now, t h i s AFE i s a l i t t l e higher than 

Nearburg's. What i s the d i f f e r e n c e between the two AFEs? 

A. I be l i e v e the d i f f e r e n c e i s due t o a f r a c j o b . 

This has a $120,000 f r a c job. 

Q. Okay, so i f a f r a c job i s necessary, t h a t ' s 

already accounted f o r i n the — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — Devon AFE? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I n our opinion, are these costs i n l i n e w i t h the 

costs of other w e l l s d r i l l e d t o t h i s depth i n t h i s area of 

New Mexico? 

A. The producing r a t e — Oh, the — 

Q. No, I mean the w e l l cost. 

A. — cost? Yeah. Yeah, f o r t h i s depth i t i s . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Q. Okay. And what are your recommendations for the 

amounts which Devon should be paid f o r supervision and 

a d m i n i s t r a t i v e expenses? 

A. $6000 a month f o r d r i l l i n g and $300 a month f o r 

producing. 

Q. Now, Nearburg has requested f o r the d r i l l i n g r a t e 

$4168 a month, which I guess i s the new Ernst and Young 

r a t e . I f the D i v i s i o n decides t h a t r a t e should be 

a p p l i c a b l e , w i l l Devon accept t h a t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And are these overhead r a t e s those 

normally charged by Devon Energy i n t h i s area f o r w e l l s of 

t h i s depth? 

A. The producing r a t e i s lower. 

Q. Okay, lower than normally charged — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — by other operators? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Well, l e t ' s t a l k about t h a t producing r a t e . 

You're asking $300 a month. Would you r e f e r t o E x h i b i t 5, 

i d e n t i f y t h a t and discuss b r i e f l y why Devon proposed t h a t 

r e l a t i v e l y low producing rate? 

A. E x h i b i t 5 i s an e x h i b i t t h a t d e p i c t s the Devon-

operated w e l l s i n the area i n red and the Nearburg-operated 

w e l l s i n green. We've got 260 w e l l s i n t h i s area. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Therefore, we can — 

MR. CARR: I'm sorr y , I can't hear the witness. 

Can we speak j u s t a l i t t l e b i t — 

THE WITNESS: Oh, sure. E x h i b i t 5 i s an e x h i b i t 

t h a t d e p i c t s the Devon-operated w e l l s i n the area and the 

Nearburg-operated w e l l s , and Devon's got 260 w e l l s i n t h i s 

area. That's why we could cut our producing r a t e i n h a l f . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Okay. This i s what's normal f o r 

Devon t o charge on these other w e l l s i n t h i s area? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And f i n a l l y , i s E x h i b i t 6 my a f f i d a v i t of n o t i c e 

t o Nearburg regarding Devon's pooli n g a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Were E x h i b i t s 1 through 6 prepared by you or 

under your supervision, or compiled from company business 

records? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And i n your opinion, i s the g r a n t i n g of Devon's 

A p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t s of conservation and the 

prevent i o n of waste? 

A. Yes. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I would move the 

admission of Devon E x h i b i t s 1 through 6. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Any objection? 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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EXAMINER CATANACH: E x h i b i t s 1 through 6 w i l l be 

admitted as evidence. 

Cross-examination, Mr. Carr? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Ms. Wood, i n i t i a l l y , j u s t t o be sure we 

understand your testimony, you were not t e s t i f y i n g here 

today t h a t Nearburg d i d not represent and own a l l the 

working i n t e r e s t s i n what i s the northwest q u a r t e r of t h i s 

section? 

A. No, I wasn't representing t h a t . 

Q. Now, i f I look a t your E x h i b i t Number 2, the 

chronology — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — i f I understood your testimony, t h i s i s a 

summary of events a f t e r you a c t u a l l y became i n v o l v e d w i t h 

the p r o j e c t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you look a t the land f i l e s of Devon i n 

preparing t h i s e x h i b i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I n t h a t land f i l e , d i d you see the l e t t e r s dated 

September of 1998, whereby Nearburg was attempting t o 

acquire the i n t e r e s t s i n the no r t h h a l f of t h i s section? 

A. No, I d i d not. And i n f a c t , I t h i n k t h a t i s why 
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the letter, the March 25th letter — 

Q. — i s the f i r s t t h i n g on the l i s t ? 

A. Right, but i t t a l k s about a previous l e t t e r t h a t 

was sent. 

Q. Are you aware t h a t i n January of 1999, before you 

s t a r t your l i s t , t h a t , i n f a c t , Nearburg d i d propose a w e l l 

i n the n o r t h h a l f of t h i s section? 

A. Well, through the correspondence, yes, I was. 

Q. So you're not d i s p u t i n g t h a t on January the 22nd, 

Nearburg d i d w r i t e and propose a w e l l i n the n o r t h h a l f — 

A. Right. I d i d not see t h a t , but I know the l e t t e r 

i n March i n d i c a t e d t h a t . For some reason, we were not able 

t o l o c a t e t h a t . 

Q. I f I look a t the e x h i b i t between the 2 0th of May 

and the 4th of September there was a f a i r amount of 

a c t i v i t y on the p a r t of Devon, which looks l i k e you were 

going forward w i t h plans t o d r i l l a w e l l ; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I s t h a t f a i r t o say? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I s n ' t i t t r u e t h a t on May the 13th, i n f a c t , you 

had signed Nearburg's AFE f o r a well? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So signed an AFE f o r a w e l l i n the n o r t h h a l f , 

and i t was a t t h a t time, then, t h a t you went out and 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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ordered the title opinion? 

A. No, during t h i s time — The AFE was signed and 

executed, and during t h i s time I was h o s p i t a l i z e d w i t h 

v i r a l s p i n a l m e n i n g i t i s , and when I looked a t the operating 

agreement and discovered they had 7-percent i n t e r e s t , 

t h a t 1 s when we advised them t h a t we would want t o operate 

t h i s w e l l . 

Q. But you had already signed t h e i r AFE f o r a w e l l 

i n the n o r t h h a l f ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And so while we go through a l l of t h i s exercise 

i n the summer, there was an AFE t h a t had been approved by 

Devon f o r a w e l l i n the north h a l f of the section? 

A. Right. 

Q. Now, you ordered a t i t l e o p i n i o n . Has Nearburg 

requested a copy of t h a t t i t l e opinion? 

A. Nearburg requested a copy of t h a t t i t l e o p i n i o n 

probably around i n November. 

Q. And are you w i l l i n g t o supply t h a t i n f o r m a t i o n t o 

Nearburg? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You have not yet? 

A. Right. 

Q. I f I understood your testimony, you were anxious 

t o go forward and d r i l l t h i s w e l l i n the f o u r t h q u a r t e r ; i s 
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that right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And although you were i n t e r e s t e d t o get i t 

d r i l l e d i n the f o u r t h quarter of 1999, your formal w e l l 

proposal d i d n ' t a c t u a l l y come u n t i l November the 10th or 

12th; i s n ' t t h a t f a i r t o say? Why d i d you delay t h a t long? 

A. At the time, we merged w i t h Penn's Energy, th e r e 

were a l o t of t h i n g s going on i n t e r n a l l y , and — 

Q. And although you were hoping t o get i t d r i l l e d 

before the quarter, you d i d n ' t a c t u a l l y get a proposal out 

u n t i l — 

A. Right, we knew we had an approved AFE. 

Q. Approved by whom? 

A. I n t e r n a l l y . 

Q. Okay. Not by Nearburg? 

A. Right, not by Nearburg. 

Q. Now, you s t i l l were i n t e r e s t e d i n g e t t i n g the 

w e l l d r i l l e d during t h a t f o u r t h q u a r t e r ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I f I look a t your E x h i b i t Number 3, i t ' s a l e t t e r 

dated January 24th of t h i s year, and t h a t i s when you are 

sending t o Nearburg revised pages t o the JOA f o r the w e l l 

you're proposing i n the n o r t h h a l f ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I f you were so anxious t o get t h i s w e l l d r i l l e d , 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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why did you wait until mid-January to even propose JOA 

amendments? 

A. Well, Mr. Shelton had advised i n November t h a t i f 

we wanted t o operate, t h a t we would probably not be able t o 

get the w e l l d r i l l e d by the end of the year, because there 

would be an operatorship issue. 

Q. And there i s , r i g h t ? 

A. Right. 

Q. Devon submitted t o Nearburg. When, about, was 

th a t ? Do you know? 

A. When — Excuse me? 

Q. When was the Devon AFE t h a t ' s your E x h i b i t Number 

4 a c t u a l l y submitted t o Nearburg? 

A. On November 11th. 

Q. And were you involved i n the p r e p a r a t i o n of t h i s 

AFE? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does i t s t r i k e you as unusual t h a t the t o t a l s on 

the Devon AFE are i d e n t i c a l t o the t o t a l s on the AFE t h a t 

you approved f o r Nearburg t h a t was submitted e a r l y i n 1999? 

A. What's the question? Does i t — 

Q. I mean, you would agree w i t h me t h a t the t o t a l s 

are i d e n t i c a l , r i g h t ? 

A. They're i d e n t i c a l . 

Q. Did you independently prepare the AFE f o r Devon, 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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or did you just take Nearburg's numbers and use them? 

A. I b e l i e v e t h a t most of the Morrow w e l l s t h a t we 

have d r i l l e d out there were 11,000 f e e t , and since t h i s was 

a 9400-foot w e l l , we took our AFE f o r an 11,000-foot w e l l 

and compared what Nearburg had proposed and prepared i t 

t h a t way. 

Q. Did you accept the Nearburg f i g u r e s ? I s t h a t 

what — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — t h i s indicates? 

A. Yes. 

Q. There have been discussions concerning overhead 

and a d m i n i s t r a t i v e charges. 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. I f I understand your testimony, Devon i s 

proposing — c o r r e c t me i f I'm wrong — $6000 a month w h i l e 

d r i l l i n g and $3000 while producing; i s t h a t not r i g h t ? 

A. Three hundred. 

Q. I'm s o r r y , $300. 

Are those the charges t h a t you, i n f a c t , are 

charging other operators f o r w e l l s t o t h i s depth? 

A. No, because they're not i n t h i s area. 

Q. Do you operate any w e l l s t o t h i s depth i n t h i s 

area? 

A. No, not t h a t I know of. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Q. When you say you charge $300 monthly operating 

charges, are those charges subject t o e s c a l a t i o n pursuant 

t o the COPAS forms? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And i n f a c t , when you say here today t h a t you 

charge $300, i s n ' t i t t r u e t h a t i n w e l l s i n Sections 5 and 

6 of 18 South, 2 7 East, those r a t e s are escalated t o 

approximately $350 a month at t h i s time? 

A. I'm not sure. 

Q. They could be escalated? 

A. They could be, yeah. 

Q. Now, i n the course of the n e g o t i a t i o n s -- I n 

f a c t , the w e l l s t h a t you operate and t h a t you have 

experience i n terms of costs and a d m i n i s t r a t i v e charges, 

those are a c t u a l l y mostly San Andres w e l l s , are they not? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I n the Red Lake area, i s t h a t the area t h a t 

you're operating? 

A. (Nods) 

Q. Do you operate any deep w e l l s w i t h i n the nine 

sections surrounding t h i s area? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you have a gas co n t r a c t f o r w e l l s i n t h i s 

area? 

A. Yes, we do. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Q. You could provide an immediate connection? 

A. Yes, I believe so. 

Q. Do you have a r i g a v a i l a b l e t o d r i l l the well? 

A. I'm not sure. 

Q. During the n e g o t i a t i o n s there was a d i s p u t e 

between Devon on the one hand, Nearburg on the other, about 

overhead and a d m i n i s t r a t i v e costs; we agree on t h a t , 

c o r r e c t ? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. You are here today recommending less than the 

Ernst and Young fig u r e s ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And those are the f i g u r e s t h a t Nearburg i s asking 

f o r here today? 

A. (Nods) 

Q. I n terms of t r y i n g t o avoid t h i s hearing, i s n ' t 

i t t r u e t h a t Nearburg agreed t o accept those numbers as an 

e f f o r t t o t r y and s e t t l e t h i s so we wouldn't be here today? 

A. Nearburg agreed t o accept these f i g u r e s on 

January 27th, e a r l i e r t h i s week. 

Q. E a r l i e r t h i s week, i n an e f f o r t t o avoid the 

hearing? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. And you would not accept i t a t t h a t time? 

A. No, because a t t h a t p o i n t i t was an op e r a t o r s h i p 
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issue. 

Q. You had p r e v i o u s l y had a dispute over the 

balancing agreement; i s n ' t t h a t correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And e a r l i e r t h i s week, Nearburg s a i d t o avoid the 

hearing they'd accept your balancing agreement; i s n ' t t h a t 

r i g h t ? 

A. (Nods) 

Q. That was no longer an issue f o r you? 

A. The gas-balancing agreement? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Right, no. 

Q. And e a r l i e r t h i s week, Nearburg s a i d i f you 

wanted t o j o i n the w e l l you could look a t the FMI 

i n f o r m a t i o n ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, they d i d , and I was t o l d by — t h e r e was no 

way t h a t we could get i t faxed, the FMI, and have t h a t 

i n t e r p r e t e d , because i t ' s — so i t wouldn't have — 

Q. I f I would have questions about the l o c a t i o n s of 

w e l l s , I should ask your g e o l o g i s t ; i s t h a t f a i r t o say? 

A. Yes, please. 

Q. Do you operate deep w e l l s i n southeast New 

Mexico? 

A. Yes, we do. 

Q. Do you operate a w e l l f o r Mewbourne i n Section 22 
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of 21 South, 26 East? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And are you aware of the overhead r a t e s t h a t are 

i n the operating agreement f o r t h a t well? 

A. That p a r t i c u l a r w e l l probably has $6000 and $600. 

Q. The gas l i n e s t h a t are i n the area t h a t you would 

use t o remove — take gas from a w e l l a t the proposed 

l o c a t i o n , are those gas l i n e s low-pressure l i n e s f o r the 

San Andres w e l l s t h a t you operate? 

A. I am not sure. 

Q. You don't know i f those gas l i n e s could 

reasonably s e r v i c e a deep gas well? 

A. Right. I have been t o l d by our operations 

engineer t h a t we would not have a problem w i t h t h a t . 

Q. And you don't know the c a l i b e r of the l i n e s or 

any of those — 

A. Huh-uh. 

MR. CARR: So I won't ask you about them. Okay, 

thank you very much. 

MR. BRUCE: Could I ask a couple of foll o w - u p 

questions? 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Sure. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Just t o r e i t e r a t e , Ms. Wood, Mr. Carr asked you a 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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question about why no proposal u n t i l November, 1999. 

Again, you were ready t o make a proposal i n August and 

again i n September regarding t h i s w e l l , were you not? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you held o f f a t Nearburg's request both 

times? 

A. Right. 

MR. BRUCE: Thank you. 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. And wasn't t h a t request so they could acquire 

a d d i t i o n a l i n f o r m a t i o n from the w e l l t h a t was being d r i l l e d 

by Murchison t o the east? 

A. On the second occasion. On the f i r s t occasion i t 

was so they could acquire a d d i t i o n a l i n t e r e s t . 

MR. CARR: Thank you. 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER CATANACH: 

Q. A couple. Ms. Wood, your proposed l o c a t i o n , 

again, j u s t t o v e r i f y , i s 1980 f e e t from the n o r t h l i n e , 

1650 from the east l i n e ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. I believe you t e s t i f i e d e a r l i e r t h a t Devon 

was w i l l i n g t o concede operations before the f i r s t of the 

year i f the w e l l , indeed, was d r i l l e d by then? I s t h a t 
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your testimony? 

A. Yes. We wanted t o — We had the w e l l budgeted 

f o r an end-of-the-year w e l l , and we wanted t o do whatever 

we could t o get t h a t w e l l d r i l l e d p r i o r t o the end of the 

year. And we knew t h a t we could cut the producing r a t e i n 

h a l f , and i f Nearburg was w i l l i n g t o do t h a t , because 

t h a t ' s what we would do f o r them, then we would l e t them 

operate. 

Q. Did t h a t include l e t t i n g Nearburg d r i l l a t t h e i r 

proposed l o c a t i o n ? 

A. Based on conversations w i t h the g e o l o g i s t — and 

y o u ' l l have t o v i s i t w i t h Gayle about t h i s , but I don't 

b e l i e v e she had a problem w i t h t h e i r l o c a t i o n , based 

s t r i c t l y on the conversation. 

But we wanted t o see the FMI, and I b e l i e v e t h a t 

she requested the FMI data and was t o l d t h a t i t was 

p r o p r i e t a r y data. And our concern w i t h changing the 

l o c a t i o n would be t h a t we wouldn't be able t o get the w e l l 

d r i l l e d by the end of the year. And so we r e a l l y wanted t o 

evaluate the FMI data, because we had the l o c a t i o n staked, 

we had i t per m i t t e d , and we were ready t o go, and we had 

r i g a v a i l a b i l i t y . 

Q. Do you know what your r i g a v a i l a b i l i t y i s i f you 

are awarded operatorship of t h i s well? Nearburg has some 

lease concerns. Do you know i f you w i l l be able t o d r i l l 
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that well? 

A. Yes, I'm c e r t a i n w e ' l l be able t o d r i l l the w e l l . 

We've got one r i g d r i l l i n g r i g h t now t h a t w i l l go down i n 

14 days. We can always move t h a t r i g , and t h a t ' s — I've 

been advised by our operations engineer, he d i d n ' t b e l i e v e 

t h a t we'd have a problem g e t t i n g another r i g , but we do 

have c o n t r o l of one. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: I have nothing f u r t h e r of 

t h i s witness. She may be excused. 

MR. BRUCE: I have nothing f u r t h e r . 

GAYLE RIGGS, 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t duly sworn upon 

her oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Would you please s t a t e your name f o r the record? 

A. Gayle Riggs. 

Q. Where do you reside? 

A. Oklahoma C i t y , Oklahoma. 

Q. What i s your occupation? 

A. I am a d i s t r i c t g e o l o g i s t f o r Devon Energy. 

Q. Have you pr e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the 

Di v i s i o n ? 

A. No, I have not. 

Q. Would you summarize your educational and 
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employment background for the Examiner? 

A. I was a 1979 graduate from Oklahoma State 

U n i v e r s i t y i n geology. I worked f o r the f i r s t t e n years 

f o r two d i f f e r e n t independent o i l companies i n Oklahoma 

C i t y as a g e o l o g i s t , worked f o r Anadarko Petroleum th e r e i n 

Oklahoma C i t y , and employed by Devon Energy i n 1992, and 

have worked there ever since. 

Q. Does your area of r e s p o n s i b i l i t y a t Devon 

c u r r e n t l y include southeast New Mexico? 

A. Yes, i t does. 

Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the geologic matters 

in v o l v e d i n t h i s A p p lication? 

A. Yes, I am. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d tender Ms. Riggs as 

an expert petroleum g e o l o g i s t . 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Any objection? 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Ms. Riggs i s considered 

q u a l i f i e d . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Ms. Riggs, would you i d e n t i f y 

your E x h i b i t 7, discuss the geology i n t h i s area and why 

Devon supports i t s proposed w e l l l o c a t i o n ? 

A. This i s a nine-section p l a t , h i g h l i g h t i n g the two 

proposed l o c a t i o n s i n Section 30 of 17 South, 27 East. 

There's q u i t e a b i t of in f o r m a t i o n on here. I f y o u ' l l bear 
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with me, I'll go through a little bit at a time. 

The main obj e c t of t h i s map i s , i t ' s a net 

isopach map of a middle Morrow sand t h a t I mapped, t h a t I 

f e l t was the producing horizon i n the northeast q u a r t e r of 

Section 30. 

The color-coded producing formations, the yellow 

i s Morrow. Most of i t i s u n d i f f e r e n t i a t e d , although the 

t r i a n g l e symbols are the mapped sand t h a t I f i n d would be 

p r o d u c t i v e i n Section 30. The orange i s a shallower 

Wolfcamp producer, the pink i s Atoka, green i s 

u n d i f f e r e n t i a t e d Pennsylvanian. 

The gas cums are noted i n the legend. The gas 

cums f o r the Morrow are on the bottom, below the completion 

dates. And my f i g u r e s are the t o t a l gross of sand versus 

the net pay sand a t 10-percent p o r o s i t y c u t o f f . 

Q. Now, you're using a 10-percent c u t o f f , r a t h e r 

than the 8 percent used by Mr. Elger? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. Now, based on your mapping — You have 

t h i s zone t r e n d i n g northwest-southeast. I s t h a t the 

general t r e n d of the Morrow i n t h i s area? 

A. As I understand i t . Other g e o l o g i s t s t h a t I've 

worked w i t h t h a t have previous experience i n t h i s area have 

advised me t h a t t h a t ' s i t s d e p o s i t i o n a l t r e n d . 

Q. Okay. Now, a t Devon's proposed l o c a t i o n you 
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show, what? Twenty-plus f e e t of net sand? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I s t h a t what you believe i s roughly necessary f o r 

a commercial Morrow w e l l out of t h i s zone? 

A. The p a r t i c u l a r channel t h a t i s p r o d u c t i v e i n 

Section 3 2 and 33 both had over 2 0 f e e t of net-pay sand a t 

t h a t i n t e r v a l thickness. 

Q. Okay. And t h a t ' s where there's — w e l l , several 

commercial wells? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Based on your mapping, would you have a 

g r e a t e r sand thickness than the Nearburg l o c a t i o n , which on 

your map i s shown as Location Number 2? 

A. Based on the w e l l data t h a t I have v i s u a l l y seen, 

t h i s i s the only way t h a t I could map i t and present i t t o 

our management. Okay, and you would — Based on your 

mapping, the Devon w e l l would have a greater thickness than 

the Nearburg lo c a t i o n ? 

A. Yes, based on the data I have seen. 

Q. Okay. Let's move on t o your E x h i b i t 8, and could 

you discuss t h a t f o r the Examiner? 

A. This i s a s t r a t i g r a p h i c c r o s s - s e c t i o n running, 

from the l e f t - h a n d side, the northwest t o the southeast. 

I t i s a c o r r e l a t i o n s e c t i o n t o show the c o r r e l a t i o n of the 

primary Morrow o b j e c t i v e i n Section 30. The datum i s on 
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what I consider the top of the Morrow c l a s t i c s s e c t i o n . 

The Morrow sand t h a t i s h i g h l i g h t e d i n y e l l o w i s 

the crossover between the two p o r o s i t y curves t h a t I mapped 

as gross thickness, and the red i n d i c a t e s the 10-percent 

p o r o s i t y of the density. 

And the P o t t e r w e l l t h a t i s i n the northwest of 

29 appears t o have had a — two p a r t i c u l a r sands developed, 

one being a 10-foot gross sand i n the upper p o r t i o n of i t s 

i n t e r v a l , and then a — p o s s i b l y a clay plug w i t h l a g sand 

i n the bottom. 

Q. Now, t h i s map also has the cumulative and --

what? Current r a t e s on i t ? 

A. Yes, i t does. I t has completion r a t e s , 

p e r f o r a t e d i n t e r v a l s , i n i t i a l r a t e s , c u r r e n t and 

cumulatives. 

Q. Were any of these w e l l s on t h i s e x h i b i t frac'd? 

A. From the a v a i l a b l e data I have, the w e l l i n 

Section 3 0 was f r a c ' d w i t h a C02 bomb. 

Q. That's t h a t Yates — 

A. They apparently were not i n the most porous p a r t 

of the channel, and — 

Q. That's the — 

A. — they l i k e t o f r a c where i t ' s necessary. 

Q. — Yates Dos Equis w e l l --

A. Yes. 
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Q. ~ that you're talking about? 

And then these other w e l l s , t h a t Section 3 2 and 

33, they were not f r a c ' d , were they? 

A. Not t o my knowledge. 

Q. And they were i n the t h i c k e r p a r t of the sand? 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. Okay. Now, i f you could summarize, why do you 

p r e f e r Devon's l o c a t i o n t o Nearburg's l o c a t i o n ? 

A. When I was assigned t o t h i s p a r t i c u l a r area, the 

w e l l l o c a t i o n , the f i r s t w e l l l o c a t i o n , had already been a 

s u b j e c t matter i n t h i s area, and I was assigned t o evaluate 

i t s p o t e n t i a l . 

And a f t e r seeing the log on the P o t t e r Number 2, 

given the northwest-southeast generalized t r e n d of 

d e p o s i t i o n , I was more i n c l i n e d t o move away from the dry 

hole, r a t h e r than move closer t o i t , so I — Of course, we 

had concerns about moving closer towards i t a f t e r we got a 

c a l l from — or a f t e r Carla had t o l d me they had moved the 

l o c a t i o n , and I c a l l e d t h e i r g e o l o g i s t t o f i n d out why. I 

assumed he had a d d i t i o n a l w e l l data, and he s a i d t h a t he 

d i d . 

And I said, I s t h i s an FMI? 

And he said yes, and he j u s t explained t h a t there 

were t h i n g s t h a t he saw i n there t h a t made him i n c l i n e d t o 

move c l o s e r t o the w e l l . 
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Q. Okay. And again, you haven't seen t h a t FMI? 

A. I have not. I d i d ask f o r i t , and he sa i d i t was 

p r o p r i e t a r y data. 

Q. Okay. Are there any secondary zones i n t h i s 

area? 

A. There are shallower Cisco/Canyon completions i n 

two adjacent sections t h a t I would consider secondary. 

Q. Okay. But apparently, now, based on the 

testimony today, t h a t P o t t e r Number 2 w e l l i s not 

commercial i n the Cisco/Canyon e i t h e r , i s i t ? 

A. Apparently not. 

Q. Do you agree w i t h Mr. Elger t h a t i f a p a r t y goes 

nonconsent i n t h i s w e l l , the maximum cost-plus-200-percent 

p e n a l t y should be assessed against any i n t e r e s t owner? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Were E x h i b i t s 7 and 8 prepared by you or under 

your supervision? 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. And i n your opinion, i s the g r a n t i n g of Devon's 

A p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t s of conservation and the 

prev e n t i o n of waste? 

A. Yes. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d move the admission 

of Devon's E x h i b i t s 7 and 8. 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 
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EXAMINER CATANACH: E x h i b i t s 7 and 8 w i l l be 

admitted as evidence. 

Mr. Carr? 

CRO S S-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Ms. Riggs, when d i d you f i r s t become in v o l v e d 

w i t h t h i s p r o j e c t ? 

A. The second h a l f of September of t h i s year — of 

1999. 

Q. Of 1999? Your E x h i b i t Number 7 has a date on i t 

of February the 1st of t h i s year? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. I s t h a t when t h i s map was, i n f a c t , prepared? 

A. Yes, t h i s i s a Geographies program. Anytime you 

enter i n t o the mapping program, i t updates the date, and I 

had made a few c o r r e c t i o n s on some of the o f f s e t w e l l s on 

the day before we came here. 

Q. Had you mapped the channel i n t h i s f a s h i o n p r i o r 

t o t h a t time? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Had you mapped i t i n September t h i s way? 

A. No, because we were w a i t i n g on the — A c t u a l l y , 

the way t h a t we o r i g i n a l l y had i t mapped was very s i m i l a r 

t o t h i s , but I incorporated the data o f f of Po t t e r Federal 

Number 2. 
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Q. Did you map the channel i n t h i s f a s h i o n p r i o r t o 

the time you knew there might be a dispute as t o w e l l 

l o c a t i o n s ? 

A. No, I d i d not. 

Q. I t was a f t e r you knew there was a dispute? 

A. I'm sor r y , say t h a t again. 

Q. Did you develop t h i s map a f t e r you knew there was 

a disput e as t o the proposed w e l l l o c a t i o n s of Nearburg and 

Devon? 

A. This p a r t i c u l a r map, yes. 

Q. You did? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, i n preparing t h i s map, what data was 

a v a i l a b l e t o you? Did you have j u s t w e l l c o n t r o l ? 

A. Yes, I had w e l l logs. 

Q. Any seismic i n f o r m a t i o n a v a i l a b l e ? 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. No FMI data? 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. And you would agree w i t h me, would you not, t h a t 

FMI data might have been u s e f u l t o you i n your a n a l y s i s of 

the r e s e r v o i r ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I t i s a valuable t o o l ? 

A. I t i s . 
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Q. You requested i t , but i t was not shared? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Were you aware of any dispute between Nearburg 

and Devon concerning the sharing of t i t l e data or anything 

else l i k e t h a t ? 

A. No. 

Q. So you're looking at j u s t the t e c h n i c a l p a r t of 

t h i s case? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. I f we look at your map and we compare i t t o Mr. 

Elger's, you have mapped these channels i n very d i f f e r e n t 

ways; you would agree w i t h me? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Yours i s more northwest-southeast? 

A. Yes. 

Q. His i s more north-south. 

I t was your dec i s i o n t o o r i e n t t h i s channel i n 

t h i s fashion? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And i f I look a t the i n f o r m a t i o n on t h i s e x h i b i t , 

you have p u l l e d your channel o f f t o the northwest i n t o 

Section 19? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And t h a t ' s where you s t a t e you have no deep 

c o n t r o l ? 
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A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And yet you have not p u l l e d your channel down 

through Section 2 0 where you have two w e l l s , one of them 

c l e a r l y commercial; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And you j u s t see t h a t as s o r t of a l i t t l e 

appendage o f f of the channel extending t o the north? 

A. They could be splays. Yes, I b e l i e v e i t was — 

The map t h a t I have drawn would be of the main channel. 

Q. You s t a t e d t h i s was the only way you could map 

t h i s f o r your management. Was your management i n t e r e s t e d 

i n having an e x h i b i t t h a t would hold a channel t o the west, 

or were you f r e e t o map i t as you saw i t ? 

A. No, I am f r e e t o map i t as I saw i t . I t h i n k 

they would r e a l l y question my i n t e n t i o n s of wanting t o 

pursue, say, l o c a t i o n 2, given t h a t i t — on my — the way 

t h a t I have i t mapped would only p o s s i b l y be 15 f e e t of net 

pay, versus 2 0 or more. 

Q. And b a s i c a l l y i t ' s your understanding t h a t other 

people and the general t r e n d i n the area i s t h i s northwest-

southeast? 

A. That's my understanding. 

Q. Did t h a t i n f l u e n c e your i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of the 

channel being i n t h a t place, and not more north-south? 

A. I t influe n c e d my ev a l u a t i o n of the i n i t i a l 
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proposal, yes. 

Q. When we look a t your mapping and the way you've 

o r i e n t e d the channel, you a c t u a l l y have no w e l l c o n t r o l , 

r e a l l y , t o the west or t o the nor t h and west of the w e l l i n 

the southeast of Section 30; i s n ' t t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. And so t o the extent t h a t you p u l l e d the channel 

across t h a t s e c t i o n , you're having t o i n t e r p r e t from the 

data south and east? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. And i f we look even at Mr. Elger's map, the 

extent t o which t h i s channel may extend t o the west has got 

t o be a matter of i n t e r p r e t a t i o n ; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , I agree w i t h t h a t . 

Q. Have you looked a t logs or anything on the Po t t e r 

Federal well? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And you have seen evidence of r e s e r v o i r i n t h a t 

w e l l , have you not? 

A. I have seen evidence of an upper development t h a t 

i s a c t u a l l y , I be l i e v e , an overbanking-type deposit above 

the main channel. 

Q. Do you disagree w i t h the statement t h a t , i n t h i s 

f o r m a t i o n , the f a r t h e r away you move from data, the less 

r e l i a b l e the i n f o r m a t i o n on the r e s e r v o i r a c t u a l l y is? 
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Closer, more reliable; farther, less reliable? 

A. I'm not r e a l sure you could s t a t e t h a t w i t h the 

nature of the de p o s i t i o n of the Morrow sands. 

Q. When you're making an i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of the 

r e s e r v o i r , don't you f e e l more comfortable w i t h your 

i n t e r p r e t a t i o n , the closer you a c t u a l l y are t o a c t u a l data? 

A. Yes, I do use the cl o s e s t data. 

MR. CARR: That's a l l I have. Thank you very 

much. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Mr. Carr, i s i t Nearburg's 

i n t e n t i o n t o share t h a t FMI data w i t h Devon? 

MR. CARR: Yes. We o f f e r e d t o share the FMI data 

e a r l i e r t h i s week i n an attempt t o resolve the issues 

concerning the w e l l l o c a t i o n . We simply do b e l i e v e t h a t we 

have i n c u r r e d s u b s t a n t i a l cost here and i n o f f s e t w e l l s t o 

prove up t h i s , and t h a t ' s been the reason f o r the delay, 

coupled w i t h some delays i n g e t t i n g t i t l e . But we are 

going t o share t h i s , and we w i l l share t h a t . 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER CATANACH: 

Q. Ms. Riggs, i n your opinion, once you review the 

FMI, do you t h i n k t h a t t h a t i n f o r m a t i o n w i l l cause you t o 

change the o r i e n t a t i o n of the sand channel? 

A. I t c e r t a i n l y could. 

Q. I t could? 
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A. I t could. 

Q. Approximately how long do you t h i n k i t would take 

t o evaluate t h a t ? 

A. I'm not an FMI expert by any means. We have run 

them i n w e l l s t h a t I've been i n c o n t r o l o f , but we have a 

Schlumberger rep t h a t , a t a moment's n o t i c e , comes over and 

can i n t e r p r e t w i t h h i s exp e r t i s e b e t t e r than mine, and i t 

wouldn't take any time a t a l l t o probably g i v e support t o 

the f a c t t h a t we need t o be close r or f a r t h e r . 

Q. So do you t h i n k w i t h i n — I don't know when you 

plan on g i v i n g t h i s i n f o r m a t i o n t o Devon. 

MR. CARR: We a c t u a l l y can provide i t today. We 

would l i k e t o receive the t i t l e o p inion and the t i t l e data 

q u i c k l y i n exchange f o r i t . I f you don't have i t today, I 

mean, I understand. 

MR. BRUCE: I can p r i n t t h a t up and e i t h e r hand 

i t t o him today or fax i t . 

MR. CARR: Are you the keeper of t h a t 

i n f o r m a t i o n , Mr. Bruce? 

Q. (By Examiner Catanach) Ms. Riggs, i s two weeks 

i n s u f f i c i e n t time t o evaluate t h a t ? 

A. No, s i r , i t i s not. 

Q. Okay. 

A. I t h i n k the issue w i l l be — You know, not seeing 

the FMI, I do understand the nature of what we're working 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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w i t h , and the r e appears t o be two separate d e p o s i t s , and 

t h i c k e n i n g of the upper deposit i s n ' t n e c e s s a r i l y the main 

channel t h a t I have mapped through, so I would hope t h a t i t 

would g i v e us other i n f o r m a t i o n , other than the t h i c k e n i n g 

of the upper deposit. 

Q. I f you subsequently agree w i t h Nearburg's 

l o c a t i o n , are we s t i l l arguing about operatorship of the 

w e l l , even though the l o c a t i o n may be the same? 

A. I t h i n k — I t was my understanding when I got on 

the p r o j e c t t h a t we were operating the w e l l , and we would 

s t i l l probably want operatorship of i t . 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Okay, l e t me get you t o — At 

the February 17th hearing, when we reconvene t h i s matter — 

and I don't expect anybody t o show up, but i f you could 

provide the D i v i s i o n a summary of your p o s i t i o n on the w e l l 

l o c a t i o n , whether you want t o change your p o s i t i o n or 

whether you want t o maintain what you're seeking — 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: — and based on t h a t , w e ' l l 

j u s t probably take the case under advisement a t t h a t time 

and make a de c i s i o n . 

MR. CARR: I would l i k e t o make a c l o s i n g 

statement i n t h i s case. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Okay. I don't have any 

f u r t h e r questions of the witness. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Let Mr. Bruce go f i r s t . 

MR. BRUCE: Once again, we're p l a y i n g by Mr. 

Carr's r u l e s of procedure here, so I w i l l go f i r s t . 

MR. CARR: I would note t h a t g e n e r a l l y , the 

ap p l i c a n t — and we are the one a p p l i c a n t who has a case on 

the docket today — does go l a s t . And perhaps — I t ' s not 

my r u l e s ; I j u s t happen t o be aware of the r u l e s . 

MR. BRUCE: I'm glad he's aware of something, Mr. 

Examiner. 

Mr. Examiner, we are here today w i t h two 

competing A p p l i c a t i o n s where each p a r t y owns approximately 

50 percent of the working i n t e r e s t . Both Devon and 

Nearburg are good operators, and t h e i r AFE's are 

equ i v a l e n t . So you need t o look a t other f a c t o r s t o decide 

who should be operator. 

From our p o i n t of view, there are several f a c t o r s 

which should be considered. Devon has s u b s t a n t i a l 

operations i n t h i s area, 260 w e l l s , and can operate t h i s 

w e l l less expensively than Nearburg on a producing basis. 

We b e l i e v e t h a t ' s a s i g n i f i c a n t f a c t o r and favors Devon. 

Secondly, Devon owns 100 percent of the r i g h t s 

above the Pennsylvanian. So i f and when t h i s w e l l i s ever 

completed uphole, there's no doubt t h a t Devon w i l l be 

operator, absent the p a r t i e s ' coming t o terms under a JOA. 

We b e l i e v e t h a t t h i s i s also a reason f o r awarding Devon 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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operations, and t h a t ' s one of the f a c t o r s set out i n Order 

Number R-10,731-B. 

Now, the — 

EXAMINER CATANACH: I'm so r r y , Mr. Bruce, what 

was t h a t order number again? 

MR. BRUCE: 10,731-B. 

Now, the p a r t i e s have been n e g o t i a t i n g about t h i s 

w e l l f o r q u i t e some time. Nearburg d i d make f i r s t contact 

about t h i s w e l l or about t h i s area some time ago, but a t 

t h a t time Nearburg only owned 7 percent of the working 

i n t e r e s t , w h i l e Devon owned, as we sai d , 100 percent i n the 

northeast q u a r t e r . At t h a t time there was no doubt who 

would operate once those f i g u r e s came out. 

As a r e s u l t , f i l e d f o r an APD w i t h the Bureau of 

Land Management and received approval f o r i t s l o c a t i o n i n 

August. I t also ordered a t i t l e o p inion so t h a t i t could 

be ready t o d r i l l the w e l l by l a t e summer. 

Nearburg said, Wait, don't propose the w e l l y e t , 

we're t r y i n g t o make a deal w i t h Yates, who are the Yates 

companies, were the only other working i n t e r e s t i n t h i s 

h a l f s e c t i o n . 

So Devon, as a sign of cooperation, h e l d o f f on 

making i t s proposal. 

I n September, 1999, Devon was again going t o 

propose the w e l l , but Nearburg again wanted t o w a i t because 
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of the offset well. That's a valid reason, we're not 

complaining about t h a t . But Devon d i d hold o f f as a sign 

of cooperation and d i d not make i t s proposal. 

F i n a l l y , both p a r t i e s made t h e i r proposals, 

Nearburg's a t a s l i g h t l y d i f f e r e n t l o c a t i o n , and the 

p a r t i e s had numerous, numerous phone c a l l s back and f o r t h 

between them a f t e r t h a t . 

From May t o November, a t l e a s t Devon's 

understanding was t h a t i t was t o operate the w e l l . At t h a t 

time, i n the November-December time frame, Nearburg s a i d i t 

wanted t o operate. Devon said, Okay, i f c e r t a i n terms were 

agreed t o , because Devon was set t o d r i l l t h a t w e l l i n the 

f o u r t h q u a r t e r , had i t budgeted and had a r i g a v a i l a b l e . 

I t also had an approved APD. And as noted today by the 

g e o l o g i s t , there's o f f s e t t i n g production. They need t o get 

t h i s w e l l d r i l l e d t o p r o t e c t t h e i r c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . 

The next t h i n g Devon receives i s a f o r c e - p o o l i n g 

a p p l i c a t i o n , and t h a t ' s why we're here today. 

We b e l i e v e t h a t Devon has t r i e d t o work t h i s 

matter out and has c o n t i n u a l l y cooperated i n t r y i n g t o get 

the w e l l d r i l l e d . We b e l i e v e the e q u i t i e s are on Devon's 

side, and t h i s favors Devon being named operator. We 

r e i t e r a t e t h a t due t o Nearburg's e x p i r i n g farmouts or 

whatever, Devon i s w i l l i n g t o work w i t h them on t h a t and 

d r i l l the w e l l i n a t i m e l y fashion t o preserve those 
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farmouts. 

The next t h i n g i s w e l l l o c a t i o n , and maybe t h a t 

w i l l change over the next couple of weeks, Mr. Examiner. 

But l o o k i n g a t the e x h i b i t s , both l o c a t i o n s are p r e t t y 

good. The only way y o u ' l l know i s when the w e l l i s 

d r i l l e d . 

Now, Nearburg has the FMI, which i t claims 

supports i t s l o c a t i o n . I f we can look a t t h a t , maybe we 

can agree. 

But Devon's problem r i g h t now i s — Well, Mr. 

Carr asked our g e o l o g i s t witness, i s n ' t i t b e t t e r t o be 

near the c l o s e s t data? The problem i s t h a t the c l o s e s t 

data i s a dry hole, and t h a t ' s why Devon favors i t s 

l o c a t i o n . We believe t h a t l o c a t i o n w i l l g i v e i t over 20 

f e e t of net sand, which i s probably necessary f o r a r e a l l y 

good w e l l i n t h i s area. 

I n summary, we believe Devon has the b e t t e r 

l o c a t i o n and approved APD post haste, we ask t h a t t h a t 

Nearburg's A p p l i c a t i o n be denied and t h a t Devon's 

A p p l i c a t i o n be granted. 

Thank you. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Thank you, Mr. Bruce. 

Mr. Carr? 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner, I have 

j u s t handed you a memorandum from the D i v i s i o n dated A p r i l 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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the 5th, 1995. This memorandum was prepared by the 

D i v i s i o n , and i t provides guidance t o operators who come 

before them w i t h competing forc e p o o l i n g a p p l i c a t i o n s . I 

t h i n k i t ' s important, and t o evaluate the case, t h a t you 

remember the t h i n g s i n t h i s memorandum t h a t have been 

i d e n t i f i e d as r e l e v a n t and p e r t i n e n t evidence. 

We stand before you today w i t h competing f o r c e 

p o o l i n g a p p l i c a t i o n s . The issues are, operations and w e l l 

l o c a t i o n . 

The w e l l l o c a t i o n i s the f i r s t issue, and t h a t 

may be resolved, i t may not. But Devon i s standing on the 

l o c a t i o n t h a t was o r i g i n a l l y proposed, and they're standing 

on i t because of a review made of only w e l l - l o c a t i o n 

i n f o r m a t i o n . 

We submit t h a t today, absent a r e s o l u t i o n on t h i s 

issue i n the next two weeks, and when you r e t i r e t o 

consider the A p p l i c a t i o n , the b e t t e r evidence on t h i s p o i n t 

has been presented by Nearburg. 

Mr. Elger t e s t i f i e d t h a t we have narrow channels 

and t h a t although perhaps on h i s i n t e r p r e t a t i o n t h e r e would 

be 15 f e e t of pay and you could make the w e l l , i t i s very 

c l e a r t h a t you can more e f f e c t i v e l y d r a i n the r e s e r v o i r i f 

you're able t o h i t the channel i n the t h i c k e r p o r t i o n ; 25 

f e e t w i l l r e s u l t i n a s u b s t a n t i a l l y b e t t e r w e l l f o r 

everyone than 15 f e e t on the west side of the channel. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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You know, Mr. Bruce said both l o c a t i o n s look 

p r e t t y good. We submit t o you, however, t h a t when you 

i n t e g r a t e i n t o w e l l data FMI i n f o r m a t i o n , t h e r e may be a 

reason t o accept the l o c a t i o n t h a t i s based on more 

comprehensive i n f o r m a t i o n . They stand before you and say 

r e a l l y they couldn't evaluate an FMI i n two weeks, but i f 

you look a t what happened i n t h i s case, we got the data 

from the FMI on November the 10th and had moved the w e l l on 

November the 12th. 

We w i l l submit the data today, i t can be 

addressed i n the two-week period of time. I t i s data t h a t 

we p a i d f o r i n a d d i t i o n t o the expense i n c u r r e d i n proving 

up t h i s deep l o c a t i o n by w e l l s we've d r i l l e d o f f s e t t i n g i t . 

We b e l i e v e t h a t the l o c a t i o n we're proposing reduces the 

r i s k . We t h i n k we've done a b e t t e r job i n p i c k i n g the 

l o c a t i o n , we have b e t t e r i n f o r m a t i o n , and our l o c a t i o n 

should be adopted. 

The next question i s who should operate, and 

t h a t ' s when we get t o the questions and the issues t h a t 

f a l l w i t h i n the g u i d e l i n e s set f o r t h i n your memorandum of 

A p r i l the 5th. 

I f we look at the f i r s t item, the f i r s t item of 

r e l e v a n t and p e r t i n e n t evidence i s any i n f o r m a t i o n r e l a t e d 

t o prehearing n e g o t i a t i o n s conducted between the p a r t i e s . 

We made the i n i t i a l contact i n September of 1998. 
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•f It 1,1JPI \ 111. M IMllJ It 
seems t o be ignored by Devon i s t h a t i n May of l a s t year 

they accepted our AFE. They signed i t and somehow today 

they maintain the n o t i o n t h a t having signed Nearburg's AFE, 

they s t i l l thought they would operate the w e l l . 

The proposal was withdrawn f o r the s p e c i f i c 

purpose of a c q u i r i n g i n f o r m a t i o n on a w e l l t h a t was being 

d r i l l e d o f f s e t t i n g t h i s l o c a t i o n t o the west. And as soon 

as the data from t h a t w e l l was obtained, a new l o c a t i o n was 

proposed. 

Devon stands before you and t e l l s you how anxious 

they were t o develop the property. But i f they were so 

anxious t o develop the property, i t i s curious t h a t they 

d i d n ' t even submit amendments t o t h e i r proposed JOA u n t i l 

January of 2 000. 

We bel i e v e t h a t the record c l e a r l y shows we were 

f i r s t , and we've c l e a r l y made the g r e a t e s t e f f o r t t o 

neg o t i a t e an agreement w i t h Devon. 

I t h i n k i t ' s even more obvious when you go t o the 

second p o i n t i n your memo. That i s the w i l l i n g n e s s of the 

operators t o negotiate a vo l u n t a r y agreement, t o get t h i s 

t h i n g o f f dead center and t o resolve i t . We even accepted, 

f o r the purposes of s e t t l i n g , the lower overhead charges, 

those below Ernst and Young, t h a t are based on shallower 

w e l l s . They changed t h e i r mind. 
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We agreed to accept their balancing agreement. 

Again, t h a t no longer was the issue. We agreed t o share 

FMI, but they say the time frame was too s h o r t . 

We look a t the i n t e r e s t s , the i n t e r e s t s are as 

set out by both p a r t i e s , but we have the northwest, they 

have the northeast, and there's about a 14/100 d i f f e r e n c e 

i n the ownership p o s i t i o n because of survey v a r i a t i o n s . 

Look a t the g e o l o g i c a l testimony. I've 

p r e v i o u s l y mentioned i t , but I would submit t o you t h a t a 

g e o l o g i c a l i n t e r p r e t a t i o n prepared before t h e r e was a f i g h t 

t h a t honors the data from good producing w e l l s i n Section 

20 should be more b e l i e v a b l e than an i n t e r p r e t a t i o n of a 

d i f f e r e n t channel t h a t extends o f f t o the northwest where 

t h e i r own e x h i b i t s t a t e s they have no deep c o n t r o l . 

We submit t h a t not only have we submitted b e t t e r 

geology, but when you look a t the i n t e r p r e t a t i o n s , ours, 

very simply, i s more reasonable. 

The next p o i n t i s i n f o r m a t i o n regarding the dates 

the p r o j e c t was proposed. I've discussed t h a t already. We 

were f i r s t i n time. 

Overhead r a t e s , we've been back and f o r t h on 

t h a t . We b e l i e v e f o r deep w e l l s i n t h i s area you should 

adopt those we have proposed, which are the r a t e s t h a t are 

being charged by Devon f o r the Mewbourne w e l l which we 

discussed w i t h Ms. Wood. 
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Risk penalty? Well, there's no dis p u t e on t h a t . 

S i g n i f i c a n t d i f f e r e n c e s i n AFE costs? There are 

none because, i n f a c t , the t o t a l s i n t h e i r AFE are the 

t o t a l s t h a t we proposed w i t h our o r i g i n a l AFE. 

And then there's other i n f o r m a t i o n , other 

i n f o r m a t i o n deemed p e r t i n e n t by the D i v i s i o n . That's the 

l a s t item i n your memo. I t h i n k you ought t o consider 

several t h i n g s i n t h i s regard, Mr. Catanach. 

Experience i n the area. We've d r i l l e d more w e l l s 

t o t h i s depth i n t h i s s t a t e than v i r t u a l l y any other 

operator i n 1999. Devon has no deep w e l l i n the immediate 

area. 

We have a good gas co n t r a c t f o r the w e l l s 

immediately o f f s e t t i n g t h i s one and can immediately connect 

the w e l l . We have a r i g a v a i l a b l e , and we must d r i l l soon. 

We submit, i f you use the best evidence 

a v a i l a b l e , Nearburg's l o c a t i o n i s the best and i t should be 

d r i l l e d . I f you apply the D i v i s i o n ' s l i s t of r e l e v a n t , 

p e r t i n e n t evidence, we come out ahead on a b s o l u t e l y every 

s i n g l e p o i n t . 

What we t h i n k we have here, very simply, i s a 

w e l l t h a t we've been t r y i n g t o d r i l l f o r over a year. 

We're l o o k i n g a t the end of a lease term on one of the 

t r a c t s i n v o l ved i n the spacing u n i t , and we b e l i e v e Devon 

shouldn't be allowed t o jump i n now and t r y and d r i l l the 
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well. We want to go forward, get i t drilled, save our 

lease and go forward w i t h the development of the deep 

r i g h t s . 

We ask t h a t you grant our A p p l i c a t i o n and you 

deny the A p p l i c a t i o n of Devon. 

February 17th hearing, a t which time I w i l l expect t o 

receive a p o s i t i o n statement on the geologic issues from 

Devon. And a t t h a t time I believe w e ' l l be able t o take 

the cases under advisement. 

MR. CARR: And i t ' s our understanding t h a t no 

a d d i t i o n a l testimony w i l l be presented a t t h a t time; i s 

t h a t your understanding? 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Correct, t h a t ' s my 

understanding, although t h a t ' s — 

MR. CARR: I f there i s a change i n t h a t , we w i l l 

advise each other. 

MR. BRUCE: I w i l l l e t Mr. Carr know beforehand. 

I don't a n t i c i p a t e presenting anything else. 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Thank you, Mr. Carr. 

This case, Case 12,319, w i l l be continued t o the 

EXAMINER CATANACH: Okay. 

(Thereupon, these proceedings were concluded a t 

1 1 : 3 7 a . m . ) I hereby certify that the foregoing u 
« cor^ckie record of the proceedings in 
•fe% 1 * a * iner bearlng^j f Case N c . / p w 

OH Con««rvationT5TvWon 

STEVEN T . BRENNER, CCR 
( 5 0 5 ) 9 8 9 - 9 3 1 7 

, Examiner 



82 

CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER 

STATE OF NEW MEXICO ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF SANTA FE 

I , Steven T. Brenner, C e r t i f i e d Court Reporter 

and Notary Public, HEREBY CERTIFY t h a t the f o r e g o i n g 

t r a n s c r i p t of proceedings before the O i l Conservation 

D i v i s i o n was reported by me; t h a t I t r a n s c r i b e d my notes; 

and t h a t the foregoing i s a t r u e and accurate record of the 

proceedings. 

employee of any of the p a r t i e s or attorneys i n v o l v e d i n 

t h i s matter and t h a t I have no personal i n t e r e s t i n the 

f i n a l d i s p o s i t i o n of t h i s matter. 

I FURTHER CERTIFY t h a t I am not a r e l a t i v e or 

WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL February 7 t h , 2 000. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER 
CCR No. 7 

My commission expires: October 14, 2 002 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 


